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Figure 1. View of Concord Granite Company’s Quarries, Concord, New Hampshire, published by Asher & Adams, New York; engraved by
G. Wyand after C. Graham, 1875. This view illustrates the daily activities of quarry workers before the introduction of powered
equipment. Two menwith sledge hammers at the upper left prepare for blasting by alternately striking a drill which a third man rotates
between blows. Elsewhere, men working alone or with the assistance of oxen and horses lift and move the heavy blocks using
levers, chains, pulleys, derricks, and wagons. Courtesy of the Concord Public Library, F4203.
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The Granite Quarries of Rattlesnake Hill:
The Concord, New Hampshire, “Gold Mine”

Donna-Belle Garvin

“The visitor to Concord is at once impressed with the mag-
nitude of the granite industry. On every hand are to be seen
the great establishments erected for cutting, polishing and
finishing the granite for the markets of the world.”' By
1900, the work of 44 separate stone companies combined
to make granite quarrying (figure 1) and finishing one of
the leading industries of the New Hampshire state capital.”
With the passage of almost another century, however, Con-
cord granite has become associated in people’ s minds with
one firm only—the John Swenson Granite Company. After
purchasing the Rock of Ages Corporation of Barre, Vermont,
its primary competitor, in 1984, Swenson is today North
America’s largest quarrier of granite.’

Concord’s granite industry has a long and varied history.
From the days of earliest settlement, local people have relied
on Rattlesnake Hill for stone. The grindstones for the town’s
first mill are said to have been brought in 1729 from this
West Concord hillside. And in 1746, the Reverend Timothy
Walker, whose farm was in the relatively rock-free flood-
plain, recorded going “up to Rattlesnake for stone,” probably
for the “pasture fence” he built the next day.*

Stonecutting as an industry, however, began around 1810,
when an experienced stone contractor from Massachusetts
began to split out granite for the construction of a state
prison in Concord (figure 2). Stuart J. Park (1773-1859)
had recently built state prisons of granite at both Charles-
town, Massachusetts, and Windsor, Vermont. For the New
Hampshire prison, he employed 50 men in the arduous task
of splitting stone and, a few years after completion of the
prison, taught 40 of the convicts to hew the stone needed
to build the state capitol.’

Completion of the state house required 37,000 square feet
of hammered stone (an estimated 3,000 tons).® As work on
the capitol began in 1816, prison officials authorized the
erection of a “shed for the accommodation of the Stone
hewers for the state”—the first of countless Concord granite
sheds.” Despite the fact that granite work had been “almost
an unknown art in New Hampshire” until then, the building
committee could proudly claim in 1816 that the convicts’

product was “not deficient in beauty, and in strength not
exceeded by any work of the kind, it is believed, in the
United States.”®

Since the prison’s opening in 1812, inmates had been em-
ployed at heavy labor in a number of industries, both as
punishment and to ensure that the prison would be self-sup-
porting. Prison labor was frequently contracted out to local
craftsmen.” As early as 1818, however, a prison review
committee recommended “that the employments of the sev-
eral convicts be simplified and reduced as far as possible
to one kind,” that it is “important to pursue that employment
which, requires little machinery, the fewest tools, and least
expense of stock,” and that “hammering of stone has been
far the greatest source of income.”"?

By the summer of 1818 (even before the state house had
been completed), stonework from the prison was being ad-
vertised in the newspaper by the independent partnership of
Gass & Johnson, contractors with the state for prison labor.
John Park Gass (1794—1852), Stuart Park’s nephew, had
helped train and supervise the prisoners on the state house
project. Now he and his partner were selling “mill-stones,
underpinning, steps, hearthstones, sills and caps, and stone
work of any and every kind” from the prison at short notice. '
By 1825, during the single month of May, 52 prisoners cut
2,421 feet, 9 inches of stone. Prison sales of hammered
stone in 1827 totaled $12,221, a significant amount for the
time.'?

From the late 1810s through the 1830s, much of the granite
worked at the prison was intended for the Boston market. !>
The leading architects of Boston (including Charles Bulfinch,
Alexander Parris, Solomon Willard, and Isaiah Rogers) were
national pioneers in the use of architectural granite. It is
said, in fact, that America’s first full granite cornice—that
on Willard’s United States Branch Bank in Boston, erected
in 1824—was of Concord granite worked at the state
prison.'# Rattlesnake Hill granite also was shipped from
Boston to other ports along the coast and major rivers from
Albany to New Orleans. '’

The architecture of stone that characterized New England
at this period was made possible largely by the enthusiastic
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Figure 2. New Hampshire State
Prison, Concord, constructed 1810,
with additions dating from the early
1830s, from a stereograph by Howard

A. Kimball, c1870. In many parts
of New England, prisons were the first
buildings constructed of split stone.
Following Massachusetts's example,
the Granite State supported its
convicts by putting them to work
cutting building stone for the
nation’s rapidly growing cities,
thereby setting the stage for an
important local industry.

Courtesy of the New Hampshire

Historical Society, N440.

canal-building efforts of the era.'® Much of the granite from
which Boston and other cities were built passed down the
Merrimack River and through the Middlesex Canal (opened
in 1803). This granite came first from Chelmsford, Massa-
chusetts (near what was to become Lowell), and later from
Concord as well. Chelmsford granite, much of which was
finished at the Massachusetts state prison in Charlestown,
was in such demand by 1817 in Boston that “eighty work-
men, the last season were not able to answer the urgent
calls. .. .”"

With additional canals to bypass the rapids, the Merrimack
was navigable all the way to Concord by 1813. In 1815 the
Merrimack Boating Company began regular freight sevice
from Concord to Boston. '® This timely development enabled
the Concord prison contractors to capitalize on the growing
need for stone in the larger metropolis. By 1825, Concord’s
position resembled that of Chelmsford a decade earlier. Ac-
cording to a Concord newspaper, “there is a greater demand
for the granite, wrought at this place, for use, in Boston,
than can be supplied.”"®
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Boston’s Quincy Market (then known as the New Faneuil
Hall Market) was one of the major building projects of its
time. Its walls, 556 feet long, were constructed from 1825
to 1826 largely of Concord granite. Although specific ar-
chitectural features such as the columns, cornices, and
foundation came from Chelmsford, Hallowell (Maine), and
Quincy (Massachusetts), respectively, Concord’s involve-
ment in this project helped establish its reputation as a major
granite supplier.>°

Until the 1830s, Concord granite was obtained by surface
quarrying rather than from quarrying ledges (figure 3). The
same was true in Chelmsford and other early granite centers.
As the result of glacial action, the New England landscape
was strewn with boulders, some weighing hundreds of tons.
In 1819 a traveler in the upper Connecticut Valley recorded
having seen within 40 miles “enough to build several
cities.”*!

In 1823 a single Concord boulder, split into blocks, was
sold in Boston for $6,219. “This single rock made 10,500



Figure 3. Iron wedges, used in an attempt to split a boulder,
¢1830, still embedded in the stone, Northwood, New Hampshire,
1994. Generally, the granite first quarried for building use
was taken from boulders rather than ledges. Sometimes,
when attempts at splitting failed, boulders survived intact,
retaining evidence to this day of early quarrying activity.
Courtesy of James L. Garvin.

feet of facing stone and ornamental work—and the aggregate
weight of all the blocks (smooth hewn) was 550 tons, [the
boulder] having lost only 50 tons in being prepared for the
market, after it was brought to the prison yard.”?? Landown-
ers and stone splitters even bestowed names on some of
Concord’s most remarkable boulders. One family never for-
got selling the “Phebe rock” (named for a nesting bird) to
Gass & Johnson for $110 and later learning that it had been
sold in the New Orleans market for $6,000, after being
wrought at the prison.?

Granite work, then as later, involved splitting stone from a
boulder or ledge, moving it to the stone sheds or surrounding
yards, hammering it to any desired shape and/or surface
finish, and transporting it to market. From beginning to end,
it was “a story of skill and patient endurance, danger and
anxiety, from the time the first blow is struck on a drill to
remove [a stone] from the mountain until it is placed in the
position designed for it.”?*

Simple but effective stoneworking tools have been in use
for a long time. According to John Gass, his grandfather
John Park (a native of Scotland who moved to Groton,
Massachusetts, in 1767) was “the first here [presumably
meaning New England] who practiced splitting stone with
a wedge.”?® According to this method, a series of small
iron wedges are driven methodically between shims into a
line of holes drilled into the granite. The increasing strain,
distributed evenly across the rock through successive blows,
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eventually causes it to split along the plane desired.?® In
1851 Henry David Thoreau described a stone splitter in
action: “See how surely he proceeds. . ., how carefully he
drives each wedge in succession, fearful lest he should not
have a good split!”?’

It was in preparing to split and work up the Phebe rock that
Concord residents appear to have first experimented with
explosives: “The explosion produced a shock like a little
earthquake; the huge mass was thrown over, to the amaze-
ment and joy of the beholders!”?® Explosives were used to
remove inferior stone (called overburden) found near the
surface, which experience showed could prove defective in
building use. Blasting itself could produce further weak-
nesses in the granite, however, so it was not employed near
desirable building material. Masses of rock detached by
blasting were split into rough blocks using the drill and
wedge-and-shims (or so-called plug-and-feathers) method.?®

The stone split into blocks by the quarrymen was transported
to a stone yard or shed. Blocks were manipulated using
levers and jacks, hoisted using derricks with pulleys or
windlasses, dragged on sledges called stone boats, and/or
hauled longer distances on carts pulled by oxen> (figure 4).

At the yards, stonecutters worked from building plans and
lists of stone needed, hewing each block exactly to the
dimensions required. To do this they used points (or chisels)
and a special axe called a peen hammer, followed by a bush
hammer and other tools to finish the surface. The work of
the stonecutter, often called hammering, was described in
1827 as “one of the most tedious operations in the labor of
mechanics.”®' The goal was to shape each block with a
minimum of strokes, and workers tended to devise their
own methods of doing so.

The first true quarry in Concord was opened not by the
prison, but by a local businessman named Luther Roby
(1801-1883). Better known at the time as a printer and
bookseller, Roby purchased part of Rattlesnake Hill in the
mid-1830s.?> By 1836, he and others incorporated them-
selves as the Concord and Granite Railway Company.

A decade earlier, just after one of the first granite quarries
in New England had been opened at Quincy to supply stone
for the Bunker Hill Monument, the nation’s first railway of
any type was constructed there to carry granite from the
quarry to tidewater. Quincy’s inclined railway made it pos-
sible for a single horse to move three wagons of granite
weighing 21 tons to the wharf “with ease.”*
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Figure 4. Four yoke of oxen in an
unidentified Concord granite quarry,
from a stereograph by Howard A.
Kimball, c1870. Quarriers preferred
oxen because of their calm
temperament; they were used with
derricks and wagons to hoist and
transport granite. Sometimes,
however, it was necessary to recruit
as many as 40 yoke of oxen from
nearby farmers to pull an especially
heavy load. Courtesy of the New
Hampshire Historical Society, N284.

Doubtless inspired by this unique railway, Roby and fellow
incorporators petitioned in 1836 “to commence and carry
on the business of quarrying granite at the New-Hampshire
Ledge or Quarry in Concord in said State. And to construct
such Railway as may be necessary for the transportation of
said Granite from said Ledge or Quarry to the Merrimack
river, and to the line of the Concord Railroad Corpora-
tion.”*> Although the railroad from the quarry to the river
was illustrated by a wood engraving on the company’s stock
certificate (figure 5), it is not certain whether tracks were
ever actually completed. When the image was reprinted in
a gazetteer three years after the company was formed, the
railway was still “contemplated.”¢

By this time, a new mode of freight and passenger transport
was threatening to make river and canal traffic obsolete.
Roby himself had invested not only in granite but also in
canals, being a leading promoter for the extension of river
traffic north of Concord through the construction of a canal
around Sewall’s Falls. The coming of the railroad to Concord
in 1842, however, quickly ended local canal plans. The
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railroad provided efficient transportation year-round, unlike
rivers and canals which froze in winter. Ever resourceful,
Roby soon was providing granite for the foundation of Con-
cord’s first railroad depot—the largest block being 17 feet

long and requiring 40 yoke of oxen to move it.*’

For the next several decades, the granite industry was closely
linked with the railroad (figure 6). Stone sheds eventually
lined the tracks, particularly in the part of town known as
West Concord. The quarries were not far away; the distance
to be “teamed” was never more than three-quarters of a
mile. Coinciding with the switch from water to rail freight
was a change in prison employment from predominantly
stonework to largely cabinetwork. Only later did the prison
itself move to West Concord, for ease in shipping its products
by rail .3

By 1874 Roby was credited with having introduced Rattle-
snake Hill granite “to the country and making it the gold
mine of Concord.”*® Roby’s quarry operation—the only
one listed in the 1850 census—at that time employed 20
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Figure 5. “The New Hampshire Granite Ledge, at Concord, N.H.,” from a share certificate for the Concord Granite & Railway Company,
engraved by Caleb Deeley, 1837-38. Granite drawn from the quarry by a horse railroad is being loaded onto a Merrimack River flatboat,
where it was likely to travel through the Middlesex Canal to Boston. Courtesy of the New Hampshire Historical Society, F2736.

workers. A quarter of a century later, employment in this
rapidly growing industry had reached 500, and at least 11
quarries had been opened.*

By this time, Concord granite was “the standard by which
that from other localities is judged.”*' It had been recognized
for some time that Concord granite was unusual in being
“perfectly free from those oxides, or other mineral sub-
stances, which on exposure to the atmosphere, mar the
beauty of much of the New England granite.”** The West
Concord stone was “indeed one of the most important gran-
ites of the United States,” according to a noted geologist of
the time.*?

By mid-century, Concord granite was becoming the building
stone of choice for more and more important projects, often
to the annoyance of distant stone contractors. “When the
quarry-men at Quincy, only six miles distant from Boston,
found that preference was given to granite quarried seventy
miles away,” they were said to have shown “shrewdness
characteristic of Massachusetts business men, by securing
nearly all the control of these ledges, and the heavy contracts

pertaining thereto.”** By the time this was recorded in 1874,
Concord’s granite industry was said to be “largely controlled
by people residing in Massachusetts.”

The two leading granite quarrying operations by the 1870s
were the Concord Granite Company (employing 75) and the
Granite Railway Company (employing 100), both headquar-
tered in Boston. Roby’s own company had been taken over
in 1854 by the New York and Concord Granite Company.
The Granite Railway Company was owned jointly with, and
took its name from, the original Granite Railroad Company
of Quincy, Massachusetts. *>

By the second half of the 19th century, America had defi-
nitely entered the age of granite. This stone was used not
only for structures of all types, taller and larger than ever
before, but also for a variety of other purposes.*® Engineer-
ing projects ranging from bridge abutments and dams to
waterworks and fortifications depended heavily on granite.
The Concord Granite Company, for instance, appears to
have been awarded a contract in the 1870s for part of the
Brooklyn Bridge.*” Streets were often curbed and paved
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Figure 6. The Merrimack River,
looking east from Rattlesnake Hill,
from a stereograph by Willis G.C.

Kimball, c1875. The relationship

between quarries and transportation
networks was of tremendous
importance in the development of
the granite industry. Eventually

a railroad track extended along the
eastern side of Rattlesnake Hill, as
did a series of quarries recognizable
from a distance by their tall derricks
and reinforcing guy lines. Courtesy
of the Concord Public Library; Elwyn
L. Page Collection, F4210.

with granite. Paving blocks of granite were introduced in
Boston by Solomon Willard in 1840, as an alternative to
cobblestones.*® Concord granite was described as “hard
enough to wear well but not hard enough to become too
slippery for horses to travel over.”*

The era was also characterized by monument building, espe-
cially following the Civil War. As early as 1851, Roby had
supplied New Hampshire’s block for the Washington Monu-
ment.>® Concord granite was described as “of the finest
grain, susceptible of the highest polish, and admitting of
the best conceptions of the sculptor’s art.””' The Ether
Monument (honoring the discoverer of anesthetics) in the
Boston Public Gardens and the Soldiers’ Monument in Con-
cord, Massachusetts, are the most often cited sculptures of
Concord granite. And for cemetery work, granite, “now the
favorite monumental stone, [was] displacing marble as com-
pletely as that displaced slate.”>> Ranging from simple
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gravestones and lot borders to mausoleums, granite funerary
art became an important part of the “garden cemetery” of
the Victorian era. By about 1880, Concord was sending

“hundreds of handsome monuments ... to the wholesale
trade in Ohio and other Western States, as well as throughout
the East.”>>

The most monumental structure erected of Concord granite
in any era was the Library of Congress, built between 1886
and 1897, and considered the largest building in the world
at the time. Its exterior walls were described as “white
granite, the whitest and purest known, from the quarries at
Concord, New Hampshire.”>* Three hundred men worked
for six years to split and finish the 350,000 cubic feet of
granite called for by the contract, which exceeded any other
to that date in the building trades. The finished product was
considered well worth the extraordinary effort: “The color
and fineness of [the stone’s] texture give a delicacy of



'

The Granite Quarries of Rattlesnake Hill

[ AT

Figure 7. New England Granite Company Quarry No. 1, published in Mermimack County Art Work, 1893. At left of center, two rows of
quarriers coordinate their drilling, apparently oblivious to a large block of granite about to be lifted past them. This quarry was engaged at the

time in supplying granite for the Library of Congress, the largest building project anywhere to that date. In 1896 the company employed 85
quarrymen, 154 granite cutters, 40 laborers, 2 machine men, and 12 tool sharpeners. Courtesy of the Concord Public Library, F4197.

expression to every architectural line and detail, which is
unequalled by any other granite structure in the world”>°
(figures 7, 8).

The Library of Congress contract was awarded to the
Hartford, Connecticut, New England Granite Company
which recently had taken over a major Concord quarry. The
new firm was described in a contemporary newspaper as
operating at Concord “the most complete plant in the world
for cutting granite,” with 12 acres of stonecutting yards and
three large sheds each 300 feet long. The library columns
were produced using a special lathe turned by electricity.>®
The granite was transported from Concord to Washington
in 2,200 railway cars. The blocks, whether plain or deco-
rated, left the stone shed “in absolute readiness for the posi-
tion which they are to occupy in the edifice. Each one is

numbered, and is put in its proper place without being
changed in any way after its arrival in Washington” >’ (figure
9).

To promote increased use of—and investment in—Concord
granite, a Granite Manufacturers Association was formed
in 1892. Thirty-two stonecutting and quarrying businesses
joined. Not all the city’s granite quarriers operated their
own stonecutting sheds, nor did all the granite dealers own
quarries. Dealers frequently offered a wide selection of stone
from a number of distant quarries along with that from
Rattlesnake Hill.*®

No less than 31,000 tons of granite were shipped out of

Concord by rail in 1896, which was considered a “dull”
year. The following season the railroad laid out a branch
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Figure 8. New England Granite
Company quarry, c1910. Although
Concord granite was noted for its
fine texture and lack of imperfections,
there were certain natural breaks
and planes of cleavage in the rock
that quarriers were able to take
advantage of in splitting out
merchantable blocks. Courtesy

of the New Hampshire Historical
Society; George Wesley Perry
Collection, F4204.

Figure 9. The laying of the
cornerstone for the Library of
Congress, Washington, D.C.,
August 28, 1890. To protect
the corners and edges of

the stone from being
damaged in shipment, each
block was boxed at the cutting
yards. In this photograph,

the wooden strips bound

by iron hoops that have
protected the granite are
being removed so the blocks
can be set in place. Courtesy
of the Library of Congress.
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line to serve the various granite operations more directly.
By this time, Rattlesnake Hill could be described as “honey-
combed with quarries.”*® According to granite association
literature, there was “room on Rattlesnake hill alone for
hundreds of quarries,” and Concord’s granite supply ap-
peared inexhaustible.®°

The need for tools and equipment for granite work stimulated
the development of a number of related industries in the
area. As early as 1829, the state prison warden advertised
stone hammers made by the convicts in their blacksmith
shop.®! By the 1870s local machinists and manufacturers
were specializing in the production of granite tools, includ-
ing bush hammers, chisels, derricks, cranes, lifting jacks,
and polishing machines.®? Turn-of-the-century promotional
literature mentioned the local foundries, “where necessary
machinery can be readily manufactured,” as one of Con-
cord’s many attractions to prospective quarry owners®
(figures 10-15).

Stone tools required continual sharpening and/or replace-
ment, due to the nature of the material worked. A typical
stonecutter, as Thoreau observed in 1851, “wears up one
or two drills in splitting a single stone.”®* Concord bush
hammer manufacturers Nutting & Hayden resharpened tools
as a flourishing sideline.®® This was “practically a trade by
itself, as it requires considerable experience to gain a
thorough knowledge of the temper required for the tools to
cut the different grades of granite.”%

Figure 10. “Drilling Preparatory to Splitting, Concord,
N.H.,” from a stereograph by the Keystone View Company,
Meadville, Pennsylvania, c1910. According to a 1907 study
by Halbert P. Gillette—Rock Excavation— “a good workman
can drill and plug 80 holes in 8 hours.” The same study showed
that “each man drilled each hole (%s-in. diam. X 2U5 ins.
deep) in a trifle less than 5 mins., by striking about 200
blows. . .. Blocks 30 in. long, with four plug holes, were
drilled and split . .. in 24 mins. on the average.” Courtesy
of the New Hampshire Historical Society, F1168.

The Granite Quarries of Rattlesnake Hill

As a turn-of-the-century granite manufacturer claimed, “no
great improvement over the earliest known methods of dress-
ing granite has yet been discovered, except in circular work,
which can be done with the lathe and revolving cutters.”®’
Attempts to replicate the tedious work of hammering stone
with machinery date back to the 1820s, but were never
successful. Similar attempts to mechanize the drilling pro-
cess failed until the introduction of steam and pneumatic
(compressed-air) drills in the United States in the 1870s.58

Of the 17 stone businesses listed in the 1880 census, three
were already employing steam. Steam power was used not
only to operate drills, but also derricks and polishing

Figure 11. New England Granite Company quarry, c1910.
By the turn of the century, steam drills were being used to
channel out huge blocks of stone to avoid the risks associated
with blasting. After drilling holes on three sides of the

stone as closely together as possible and cutting away the
core between holes, the block was freed without shattering.
However, the hand method using wedges and shims was

still the most efficient way to split smaller blocks.

Courtesy of the New Hampshire Historical Society;

George Wesley Perry Collection, N237.
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Figure 12. “Concord Granite Co.
Looking North between the Sheds,”
from a stereograph by Howard A.
Kimball, probably 1880s. By the
turn of the century, Concord had
44 stonecutting yards where rough
granite from the quarries was
finished to serve a variety of
purposes. The largest of these
cutting plants employed 150 men
and boasted 900 feet of sheds.
Workers tended to specialize,
whether in lettering, molding,
carving, or plain work. Railroad
sidings connected cutting yards to
main lines. Courtesy of the New
Hampshire Historical Society, F4207.

Figure 13. Interior view of William
H. Perry’s stone shed, Concord, from
an advertisement published in
Granite State Scenery, 1899.

A native of Cornwall in England,
Perry advertised his granite works
as “equipped with all modern
scientific appliances,” including
pneumatic tools and electric
compressor motors. Even though
the sides of the sheds were kept
open as much as possible, granite
dust filled the interior and was
eventually identified as the cause
of the chronic and pervasive lung
disease silicosis. Courtesy

of the New Hampshire Historical
Society, F4206.

Figure 14. Wood engraving of a bush hammer, from an advertisement
for Nutting & Hayden, 1890. The bush hammer, a series of steel plates
bolted together and used for dressing stone, was a specialty of Concord

tool manufacturers Luther M. Nutting and Henry W. Hayden, in
business together from 1888 to 1908. This ingenious tool, with cutting
blades that could be readily replaced, was outmoded in the first decades
of the 20th century by the pneumatic surfacing machine. A surfacer
operator could do the work of 12 men with bush hammers.
Courtesy of the New Hampshire Historical Society.
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machines. By 1880 some of the larger manufacturers were
proudly advertising their *“steam polishing works,” capable
of producing a “beautiful smooth surface.”® The days of
heavy reliance on steam, however, were limited. By 1913
one firm, Henneberry & Halligan, employed two 12-ton
derricks driven by a 30-horsepower electric motor.”®

Of the 33 quarrymen, 34 stonecutters, and 7 granite polishers
listed in the city directory as residing in West Concord in
1881, all but a few bore English names. Ten of the 12
exceptions appear to have been Irish. Fewer than two dec-
ades later, however, West Concord’s population could be
termed “quite cosmopolitan; the granite industry employing
native Americans, Irishmen, Englishmen, Scotchmen, Scan-
dinavians, Italians, Armenians and French-Canadians.””!

Particularly noteworthy were the Scandinavian stoneworkers.
In the 1890s, “Swedes were to be found in practically all
of the thirty-two stone sheds in Concord.” Before long,
several companies were owned and/or run by natives of
Sweden. Some, but not all, had learned stonecutting in the
quarries of their northern homeland, where wages both for
quarrymen and stonecutters were less than a quarter of those
paid in America. Many specialized in paving-block produc-
tion’? (figures 16, 17).

The Granite Quarries of Rattlesnake Hill

Figure 15. “Concord Granite Co.,
West Side of Carving Shed Looking
North,” from a stereograph by
Howard A. Kimball, probably 1880s.
“It may seem to an onlooker that

it is a simple thing to chisel a line
or bush hammer a stone, but care and
skill are necessary from the time
the stone is placed on [blocks] until
it has passed inspection . . . and the
paint mark, with the letter or figures
of its position in the building, as
shown on the plan, is placed on it by
the person in charge” —Josiah B.
Dyer, 1899. Courtesy of the New
Hampshire Historical Society, N441.

In 1883 John Swenson, born in Falkenberg, Sweden, pur-
chased from Charles E. Ballard “one polishing building with
the engine shafting . . . one building used for an office with
desk in same, ... one large square, two iron bars, one
grindstone, two shovels and one derrick with the ropes and
guy connected therewith.””> With this simple transaction
the John Swenson Granite Company started. Today, four
generations later, it is practically the only heir of Concord’s
distinguished stone quarrying tradition (figure 18). By the
1950s it could be said that “from a modest beginning as one
of the many small monumental sheds along North State
street in 1890, this company has become one of the leading
producers of building granite in the country””* (figures 19—
21).

In the early 1890s there were 20 active quarrying operations
in Concord, more than ever before or since. The last decade
of the century also witnessed a peak in numbers of stonecut-
ters/dealers (44 companies) as well as of granite polishers
(nine companies). The Concord granite industry employed
more than 1,000 men at this time, with some of the larger
firms employing 65 to 75 each.”

By 1910, however, the number of quarriers had dropped by
half. And by 1920, only one-quarter of the quarriers and
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Did it ever occur to You
to Try My Granite?

If so, you know that it is considered
the best in Concord for all purposes.
If not, then send me your orders and be

convinced that it is not excelled by any
other granite on the market for

onuments, Buildings,
Bridges, Curbing and Paving.

My granite has been used for some of the
finest statuary and carved work in the
country. I am ready to figure on any
kind of work in granite. References . . . .
furnished if desired. I have e e e e B

Figure 16. Advertisement of
Ola Anderson in a promotional
brochure of the Concord Granite

Manufacturers Association,
1898. Anderson was one of
Concord’s first Swedish-born
'gb’fc'z:e"('lazzf;‘:;::’ffé Zz(vl'r';&; Paving on hand, ready for Immediate Delivery. Rough Stock
around 1880. By 1896, he and supplied in dimension, random or grout.
his own quarry were handling all
kinds of jobs, “from a piece O L A A N D E R S O N
of edgestone to a fifty-story )
modern building,” according to
Stone Trade News. Courtesy of

the New Hampshire Historical CONCORD, N. H.
Society, F4200.

Granite Manufacturer, Quarrier and Dealer, North State Street,

Figure 17. Pavement stonecutters,
probably 1913. Paving blocks were
quarried from the waste that
remained after splitting building
stone. By the end of the 19th century,
New England was producing 60
million paving blocks annually.

On the average a paving cutter could
produce 100 stones per day. Granite
manufacturer Ola Anderson, who
lost his right arm in a quarry
accident, appears here to the right
of center wearing a bowler hat.
Information courtesy of Reino
Elgland and William P. Jones;
photograph courtesy of New
Hampshire Historical Society;

gift of Thelma Colgan, F4209.
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Figure 18. This monumental sculpture, representing

ancient and modern history, was designed for the New
Hampshire Historical Society’s 1910 building by Daniel
Chester French and was carved (except for the owl finial)
from a single piece of Swenson granite. This Kimball Studio
photograph shows the finished work still on blocks in the
Swenson shed, where it had been carved in stone, based on a
plaster-of-Paris model provided by French. Courtesy of

the New Hampshire Historical Society, F1713.

Figure 19. A traveling crane ar the Swenson stonecutting
sheds, photographed by the T. M. Knight View Co. of

St. Louis, Missouri, c1910. Workers gather while a
postcard photographer documents the completion of an
ornamental crocket, probably for a church spire. Until
recently, the Swensons specialized in building stone,

the First Church of Christ Scientist in Boston and the Waldorf
Astoria Hotel in New York being among their first major
contracts. Courtesy of the New Hampshire Historical Society;
gift of Judith F. Mason, F4205.

The Granite Quarries of Rattlesnake Hill

one-third of the dealers active in the 1890s remained in
business. The growing popularity of steel and reinforced
concrete for building construction and of macadam and as-
phalt for paving were largely responsible for the setbacks
experienced by the granite industry. The use of granite was
now limited to facings and veneer for architectural work
and curbing and crushed stone for roadwork.’®

Difficulties with labor relations also plagued the granite
industry. In 1892 a six-month strike by Concord’s stonecut-
ters delayed construction at the Library of Congress. On
June 1, headlines proclaimed “All the Men of the New
England Granite Company Idle”; it was only one in a long
series of disagreements over contracts between the granite
manufacturers of Concord and the Concord branch of the
Granite Cutter’s National Union.”’

Among the many occupational hazards faced by granite
workers was a chronic lung disease called silicosis, caused
by particles contained in granite dust. The Swenson company
played a pioneering role in protecting workers from this
dread disease. The first step was the installation of dust-
gathering machines in the stonecutting plant in 1923. During
the 1940s an experimental therapy using aluminum dust as
an antidote was introduced and, eventually, free chest X-rays
were offered semiannually to all workers.”®

By World War II, the Swenson company had outlived its
last local competitor of any size. The Granite State Quarry
Company had advertised in 1924 as successor to the New
England Granite Company. When this operation closed in
1941, it could boast a long and distinguished record of
architectural achievements—including the Library of Con-
gress.”” By mid-century, Swenson was shipping granite
from Concord to every state in the union, as well as to
England, Canada, Puerto Rico, and Hawaii. In 1949 Swenson
granite was selected as the cornerstone material for the New
York headquarters of the newly formed United Nations.%°

Diversification and, more recently, globalization have been
the company’s primary objectives over the past half-century.
As early as 1950, only 20 percent of the stone worked at
the Swenson plant originated in Concord. Along with the
company’s own “Swenson gray granite,” advertising fliers
pictured a pink granite from Maine, black from Canada,
dark gray from Quincy, and even rose red from Sweden.
Through the decades, the company purchased a number of
quarries in Maine, Vermont, New Hampshire, and Quebec,
culminating in 1984 with the purchase of its largest North
American competitor, the Rock of Ages quarry of Barre,
Vermont. Today Swenson distributes a wide range of gran-
ites throughout Europe and Asia via affiliated companies. 81
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Figure 20. “Swensons’ Granite Works, West Concord, N.H.,” photograph postcard by A. S. Currier, second quarter of the 20th century. By 1945,
the John Swenson Company was the sole survivor among the 44 granite companies operating in Concord at the turn of the century. In the cutting yard
below the quarries, a railroad car is being loaded for shipment. Courtesy of the New Hampshire Historical Society, F4208.

Figure21. “LeynerIngersoll. . .on
quarry bar broaching between drill
holes at the John Swenson Quarry,
Concord, N.H.,” second quarter of
the 20th century. With a quarry
bar, “a dozen or more holes can be
cut by simply sliding the drill along
the bar and without moving the entire
machine” —George P. Merrill,
1903. Today, 5,000°F flames from
liquid-oxygen channeling torches
burn through the granite, reducing
drill work. Courtesy of the New
Hampshire Historical Society, F4202.
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With the development of the interstate highway system in
the 1950s and 1960s, curbing became the leading product
of Concord’s surviving granite manufacturer, and the truck
replaced the railroad for long-distance shipment. In the
1970s, under the leadership of the fourth generation of Swen-
sons, the company deliberately terminated its production of
building stone in order to focus on curbing and monument
work. In the 1990s, Swenson supplies about 60 miles of
curbing annually, along with granite posts, benches, steps,
and other landscape items produced at its Concord plant.**

Improvements in technology during the last half-century
have resulted in significant workforce reductions. Today
Swenson employs 35 to 40 men, who split granite from the
quarries by burning channels four inches wide and 12 feet
deep, using 5,000°F liquid-oxygen torchgs introduced in the
mid-1950s. Also in the 1950s, one of the newest machines
used at Swenson’s was a wire saw “‘capable of slicing giant
slabs of granite like butter.”%* Today, computer-controlled,
diamond-tipped rotary saws (10 to 11 feet in diameter)
are also used to “slice” stone.®*

Yet granite is still sometimes finished by hand hammering.
And in the production of curved curbing, time-honored hand-
splitting techniques (employing simple wedges) continue in
use today and are basically the same as those introduced
nearly two centuries ago by Stuart J. Park when building
the first state prison in 1810. However, “the cheerful click
of the stone-cutter’s hammer” that could be heard in the
1870s is today drowned out by the roar of channeling torches,
pneumatic drills, and other powerful machinery.®* The
numerous granite sheds on every side that immediately im-
pressed the visitor in 1900 have all but disappeared, and 40
individuals alone carry on the occupation of thousands before
them (figure 22).
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Figure 22. The Swenson Quarry, located in the vicinity of the earlier Concord Granite & Railway Company quarry, 1988. This
Pphotograph documents the tremendous change in the granite industry since the early days of surface quarrying. It is not surprising
that the granite ledges of Rattlesnake Hill have long been considered inexhaustible . Around the turn of the century, it was widely
reported that local artesian-well drillers found solid granite extending down ar least 1,400 feet. Courtesy of Gary Samson.
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